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  [11.05 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Good morning everyone.   

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Good morning, sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, okay.  Just before we get underway with this 

pre-hearing meeting I just want to put on the record, having had a look 

at the issues statement and the parties appearing and so forth, prior to 

my role as a judge about 18 months or so ago when I was appointed, 10 

prior to that I was a partner in a law firm.  I have acted for some of the 

parties in the room and have dealt with a number of the issues that 

seem to be still alive in terms of the issues statement in my former role. 

 

 Now, this is a pre-hearing meeting just dealing with processes, it is not 15 

dealing with the merits of any of the matters before us, that is for a later 

hearing.  On that basis I have considered and think myself able to run 

the pre-hearing meeting just as I propose but if any party has any issue 

with that they should say so.  All right? 

 20 

 So we will just start with recording appearances so Ms Scott for the 

Council. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, good morning, sir. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Carranceja and Ms Silcock for the Crown. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so working my way around the room here.  30 

So Mr Leckie?   

 

MR LECKIE:   Mr Leckie for Ngāi Tahu Property, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Nicol? 35 

 

MS NICOL:   Ms Nicol for Orion. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right, now, Ms McKenzie, is it, Federated 

Farmers? 40 

 

MS McKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you, Ms McKenzie.  Now, just working 

from the left hand side I think, Ms Broughton? 45 
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MS BROUGHTON:   Helen Broughton, Riccarton Wigram Board, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Broughton.   

 

MS DAWBER:   Linda Dawber from Ouruhuia. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just a minute.  Is that Linda Dawber? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, okay.  Just carrying on down the back. 

 

MS WHARFE:   Lynette Wharfe for Horticulture New Zealand. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Ms Wharfe.  Now, I just note that I just 15 

need to find it in my list here.   

 

MS MURRAY:   Jane Murray from the CDHB. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Murray.  Yes? 20 

 

MR MUIR:   Rowan Muir, Generation Zero. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Muir.  Yes? 

 25 

MS McLEOD:   Ainsley McLeod for Transpower. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms McLeod.  Yes, the other side of the room now.  

Mr McCallum-Clark? 

 30 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Yes, Matthew McCallum-Clark and I am 

accompanied here by representatives of the companies for Spark, 

Chorus, 2degrees, Vodafone and Enable Networks. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And Enable Networks.  Well, when all those competitive 35 

telcos are holding hands some sort of miracle I suppose in the room has 

occurred.  All right, thank you.   

 

MR SULLIVAN:   Mark Sullivan representing the Christchurch Amateur 

Radio Club, the Christchurch West Amateur Radio Club and the 40 

Christchurch Amateur Radio Development Society. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  I will just take a note, the Christchurch Amateur 

Radio Club, the second one was? 

 45 

MR SULLIVAN:   Christchurch West Amateur Radio Club. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And the third one you mentioned? 

 

MR SULLIVAN:   Canterbury Amateur Radio Development Society. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MS BLAIR:   Karen Blair representing the oil companies Mobil, BP and Z 

Energy. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Blair.  Yes, anyone else?  All right.  Yes, I 

think, Ms Scott, if we could now go through your statement of issues 

and raise any matters that need to be raised before we test with the 

other parties whether they have covered the bases.   

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, sir.  I don’t actually have anything to add to the 

statement of issues this morning so happy to listen to what the other 

parties have to say. 

 

  [11.10 am] 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you very much.  Mr Carranceja? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, a couple of things.  The first one is a very minor 

matter.  In attachment B, sir, of the Council’s memorandum there is a 25 

list, rather a record of informal mediation.  I just simply wish to add, 

perhaps it is appropriate to hear that a further meeting occurred on 

29 July as between the Crown and the Council discussing these issues. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So the Crown and the Council isn’t mentioned 30 

on that, is that right? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   It is a further meeting on 29 July, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   It is just a matter of record really. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 40 

MR CARRANCEJA:   More substantively, sir, the comment that the Crown 

does have regarding this memorandum is regarding attachment C, list 

of definitions.  The way we see things, sir, there are seven additional 

definitions that are relevant to this proposal, they are as follows:  The 

definition of height.  The definition of large scale renewable energy 45 

generation.  The definition of mast.  The definition of renewable energy 
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generation activities.  A definition also of small or community scale 

renewable electricity generation so that is small or community scale 

renewable electricity generation.  A definition also for transmission and 

lastly, sir, a definition for transmission line corridor. 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   You have discussed these with, Ms Scott? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, I will provide her with a list of these, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Now, Ms Scott, I am not wanting to put you on 10 

the spot on this, but do you have any comment at the moment as to 

whether or not they are likely to be contentious? 

 

MS SCOTT:   I don’t at the moment, I don’t suspect they will be but I will just 

quickly check. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, that is fine, we can come back to that.  So that 

covers the matters for the Crown, apart from that you are happy? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir, thank you. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  So, Mr Leckie? 

 

MR LECKIE:   There is no issues with the statement of issues. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Ms Nicol? 

 

MS NICOL:   No issues, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Ms McKenzie? 30 

 

MS McKENZIE:   None that I know of, sir.  I would wonder if our Kim Reilly 

has spoken to Orion in my absence, do you know about that?  No, you 

haven’t had any discussions with Kim Reilly? 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, Ms McKenzie, that discussion has been with the 

person holding the microphone or were you talking to Ms Nicol, sorry? 

 

MS McKENZIE:   The reservation I have is that Fed Farmers was having some 

discussions with Orion which I am not aware of and I just wondered if 40 

Orion had had those discussions with our Fed Farmers rep who 

happens to be in Dunedin in the interim period. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  So have you had a look at the Council’s 

statement of issues? 45 
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MS McKENZIE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Are you satisfied on that, that there is enough scope 

within that expression of issues for Federated Farmers to participate? 

 5 

MS McKENZIE:   Yes, I think so, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you very much.   Now, just working back, 

I think perhaps, Ms Broughton? 

 10 

MS BROUGHTON:   Thank you.  This is not my area particularly, it is 

normally Mike Mora’s but we are here to support Transpower and we 

are wanting adequate space around infrastructure to protect the public. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So you are satisfied with the statement of issues covering 15 

the matters that allow the Community Board to present its case? 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, we can I think.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  All right, well, yes, that is fine, thank you.   20 

 

MS DAWBER:   No issues, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, now, I am sorry to do this to you but if you 

could just re-state your name for the record, it is just that my list of who 25 

is sitting where is a little bit random so sometimes I lose who the party 

is.  

 

MS DAWBER:   Linda Dawber. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Dawber for Ouruhia? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, no issues in terms of the issues statement is okay 35 

as far as your client is concerned? 

 

MS DAWBER:   No issues. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, thank you.  All right. Mr McCallum-Clarke? 40 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Yes, no issues, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Working across the room, no issues there? 

 45 

MS MURRAY:   The CDHB has no issues, sir. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Ms Wharfe? 

 

MS WHARFE:   Horticulture New Zealand has no issues but does note that 

some of the issues are inter-related like issues 2 and 3. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, the main thing at this stage is just to be sure that this 

properly expresses the scope of matters that are alive and parties can 

present their cases and there will be relationships between issues 

undoubtedly. 10 

 

  [11.15 am] 

 

MR MUIR:   No issues, thanks. 

 15 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thanks, that is for Generation Zero. 

 

MS McLEOD:   No issues, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms McLeod.  All right, so Transpower is 20 

satisfied with the issues and have we heard from Ms Blair, Ms Blair 

standing beside you? 

 

MS BLAIR:   No issues, thank you. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Blair.  And the amateur radio clubs? 

 

MR SULLIVAN:   No issues, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you and have we covered everyone else now?  All 30 

right.  So Ms Scott, I suggest that the proper approach is to indicate to 

me by the end of what we are going through if there are any issues to 

discuss with the Crown before we leave but subject to that are you in a 

position to update the issues list after talking to Mr Carranceja. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, absolutely. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And would Thursday this week be okay for this? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is fine. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So we will work on the basis of an updated issues list 

coming in with the other statements by Thursday this week subject to 

any requests for anything else. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir, and it might just be timely while I am on my feet 5 

just to give a quick update about discussions that have been ongoing.  

There are around 371 individual submission points on this proposal, a 

number of them have come in just from one or two submitters so some 

of them are grouped together.  But I can indicate that quite a significant 

amount of them the Council is at a point where it is still working 10 

through them but will be accepting or accepting in part a large majority 

of them.   

 

 There are some discussions ongoing and Transpower, Orion and a 

utilities group are helpfully working together to bring some joint 15 

suggestions to the Council.  And as a result of that ongoing work we 

have suggested that only two days’ hearing time will be required, we 

had originally suggested four hearing days. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  The members of that utilities group, who does that 20 

comprise? 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am not entirely sure exactly what submitters, I have just been 

advised that those discussions are ongoing at this point in time. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, all right.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Also with the oil companies, the statement of issues does 

mention an overlap between two of the chapters and there are 

discussions ongoing or about to take place with the oil companies about 30 

their submission point that does overlap into the hazardous substances 

chapter. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay. 

 35 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I was interested, not necessarily having any issues with 

but interested in the reasoning at 5.1 for not envisaging any need for 

expert conferencing.  The stated issue there is that the issues are not 40 

technical in nature.  It surprised me a little bit because I would have 

thought a number of matters in this part of the plan are of a technical 

nature albeit a number of them covered by policy statements.   

 

 Now, we have made arrangements if need be for an Environment 45 

Commissioner, Mr Mills, to facilitate expert conferencing in addition to 
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mediation but is it the Council’s view that it isn’t warranted given the 

nature of the issues? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Happy to reconsider that.  The reason is perhaps better that the 

mediations are ongoing and quite positive.  Perhaps after we hear the 5 

list of the witnesses that parties are going to call, that could be quite 

helpful.  I also note a number of submitters have called evidence in 

earlier hearings that will be of some relevance to this hearing as well. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is probably timely just to send the message we 10 

have been sending in all of our conferences, and this is particularly a 

message for those that have called expert evidence in other chapters 

that the Panel is dealing with this plan inquiry in chapters, that is what 

is required by the Order in Council.  The evidence that is before us and 

that has been tested is part of the evidence we can consider in that 15 

process and parties should bear that in mind and therefore see that they 

can and should cross-reference where they can to evidence earlier 

considered on various matters rather than repeat that evidence for this 

particular chapter, it is just more efficient to do the former. 

 20 

  [11.20 am] 

 

 And even if it is the case that you are calling another technical expert, 

if that technical expert doesn’t have any reason to disagree with the 

previous evidence then they could simply cross reference it as well so it 25 

just saves time to do it that way. 

 

 All right, I think we will take the views of parties now on who they 

intend to call.  I’ve got your Council witnesses Ms Scott, you are 

calling Ms Jenkin subject to any questions that come up in rebuttal. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thanks.  Mr Carranceja, what is the Crown 

doing? 35 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Sir, most likely four witnesses.  We were hoping to 

avoid a fifth but I will just tell you what the witnesses are likely to be 

anyway and I should emphasise sir, this is worst case scenario, we are 

hoping to resolve matters with the Council and others.  For the New 40 

Zealand Police we are intending to call an operational witness plus a 

planner. 

 

 For the New Zealand Fire Service a planner.  And for the 

miscellaneous other matters a planner covering the rest, sir.  That’s the 45 

four witnesses we are most likely to call.  The fifth witness where the 
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Crown’s intending to liaise with other parties to provide a shared 

witness, sir.  It is really just to address the National Environmental 

Standards.  It really should not be contentious, it is a matter of the 

Crown wanting to just share a witness with other parties to avoid 

duplication sir. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you. Is that in the nature of a policy witness or a 

planner? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir.  Most likely it will liaise with the likes of the 10 

telecommunications companies et cetera because we are unlikely to 

contest that which is essentially past legislation, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay, thank you.  I suppose bear in mind those documents 

speak for themselves and the normal rules of statutory interpretation 15 

apply - - - 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - that are applied in the hearing.   20 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you.  Ms Nicol? 

 25 

MS NICOL:   Orion will be calling a planning and company witness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Right, Mr Leckie, sorry, I missed you. 

 

MR LECKIE:  Ngai Tahu Property will also call a planner and a company 30 

witness. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Perhaps back to you, Ms McKenzie. 

 

MS MCKENZIE:   We would have Kim Reilly (ph 2.29) who is our regional 35 

policy manager.  Slightly concerned also about the meetings with 

Council as I know Fed Farmers hasn’t been much of the utility group 

discussions given that most of this is on the farmer’s land of course we 

would like to be engaged before it goes too far down the track. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So Federated Farmers hasn’t been party to the informal 

negotiation? 

 

MS MCKENZIE:   Not that I know of, sir, but that’s what I was trying to 

establish here.  Perhaps - - - 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Well we will come shortly to the intentions around 

mediation and whether there’s any need for expert conferencing but 

just to let you know that Environment Commissioner Mills has been 

assigned to be available to be the facilitator for mediation and all 

obviously parties with relevant interest are encouraged and able to 5 

attend that mediation notwithstanding what might have happened in the 

past with informal mediation this is facilitated through the Panel. 

 

MS MCKENZIE:   Yes, that sounds good.  Just if the informal mediation gets 

quite advanced in some of those - - - 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, it’s really a matter for the parties including the 

Council what they choose to do in terms of the informal discussions.  

We’ve got no ability nor should we really try to direct that.  Ms Scott 

can comment on that though if she wishes to.  But just to signal to you 15 

that mediation properly facilitated by a Commissioner is anticipated 

and is available. 

 

MS MCKENZIE:   Right, thank you sir. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Ms Scott, did you have any comment on that? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes I do.  I do understand that the Council has been trying to set 

up a meeting with Federated Farmers and Ms McKenzie, if we can 

speak with her directly just to sort out a time after this pre hearing 25 

meeting. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.   

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Sir, no we will not be calling witnesses. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Ms Broughton. 

 

MS DAWBER:   Worst case scenario we will have up to 10 witnesses. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, Ms Dawber do you want to just clarify what you 

mean by that?  Who are they? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Just at the moment I do not have all their names but they are 

current and past local residents, land owners. 40 

 

  [11.25 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Now what is the name of the submitter group? 

 45 
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MS DAWBER:   The Ouruhuia Residents and Spencerville-Brooklands, I 

think. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  Is that an incorporated - - - 

 5 

MS DAWBER:   Penny, under Penny Hargreaves.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, is it an incorporated group or unincorporated? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yeah, yeah. 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Incorporated society?  So you refer to up to 10 residents 

and former residents.  How many of those are submitters? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Three. 15 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  So you are sitting alongside the Friend of Submitter, 

Mr Richard Ball and – oh, you cannot hear me, sorry.  I have a 

tendency to go a bit quiet so just tell me if you cannot hear me.  

Absolutely, tell me.  So you are sitting alongside the Friend of 20 

Submitter, Mr Ball, and I would encourage you to talk to him, and I 

think you probably already are, about processes. 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just so that you know, though, a party can call evidence of 

fact from others potentially but you need to bear in mind that if a 

person is not in their formal capacity as a submitter they have no right 

to be heard. 

 30 

MS DAWBER:   Right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   But there may be an exception for matters of fact that you 

can call evidence on. 

 35 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or matters of opinion from an expert.  So if it is an expert 

in a relevant area that may obviously assist the Panel that evidence can 

be called but just bear in mind there are some limits around people that 40 

might wish to be heard but did not make a submission. 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   And it is really a matter of fairness in making sure all 

parties are on notice and so forth in that area.  So just bear that in mind 

as you get to them.  

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So in terms of, up to 10 does seem quite a large number.  

The Friend of Submitters has got his hand up which is quite unusual. 

 

MR BALL:   Sorry, it is unusual but I just wanted to clarify.  Ms Dawber is 10 

here also representing Penny Hargreaves who is unable to be here. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 

 

MR BALL:   Discussions that I have had with Penny Hargreaves is that some 15 

of the witnesses may be expert witnesses rather than simply lay people.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right. 

 

MR BALL:  So that might be something we need to get some further 20 

clarification on from Ms Hargreaves particularly in relation to expert 

conferencing and other matters. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, so what I will have to do now too is just think 

about a direction that you can follow in terms of giving us proper 25 

notice.  You would normally expect to come along here today and tell 

us who those witnesses are, and what areas they are giving evidence in.  

You are not in that position today and you need to talk to 

Ms Hargreaves.  Now are you able to come back to us by Friday with 

that list? 30 

 

MS DAWBER:   We will try - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well I - - - 

 35 

MS DAWBER:   - - - Ms Hargreaves is in hospital at the moment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well - - - 

 

MS DAWBER:   So - - - 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is she unable to talk to you? 

 

MS DAWBER:   Maybe by Wednesday or Thursday? 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  But I will set a direction that you provide a list of 

those witnesses and the areas, whether they are experts or lay people 

and whether they are submitters or not. 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And provide that to the Panel by Friday 5 pm. 

 

MS DAWBER:   Yes, good. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Right, thank you.  Now just working our way to the back.  

Mr McCallum-Clark. 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:  Thank you. Just for clarification the tele-

communication companies have the self-appointed title of the Utilities 15 

Group. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, okay. 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:   For clarity there.  We anticipate two company or 20 

operational witnesses and one planner.   

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now the amateur radio group. 

 

MR SULLIVAN:   Yes we were anticipating calling just one witness. 25 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that witness is? 

 

MR SULLIVAN:   Well, engineer for a lay witness.  I was just going to give 

evidence of fact. 30 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:    Okay, no that is fine.  So just something else for the lay 

people, so evidence – a person who wants to present on their 

submission and is not calling an expert can do this approach, in other 

words call evidence on their area, be sworn in and so forth, or speak to 35 

their submission is the other alternative which others sometimes prefer.  

So we allow you that choice.  Thanks very much.  Ms Blair? 

 

MS BLAIR:   Thank you.  Just a planner, sir. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MS BLAIR:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, have we covered everyone?  No, we have not 45 

covered everyone yet. 
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MS MURRAY:  We will be calling a Medical Officer of Health for the CDHB. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you. 

 5 

  [11.30 am] 

 

MS WHARFE:   Horticulture New Zealand will call a planner and potentially 

some industry evidence. 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you mean the second lot being from one witness? 

 

MS WHARFE:   The industry perspective would be from someone - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   From the industry. 15 

 

MS WHARFE:   - - - from the industry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right.  Thanks, Ms Wharfe.  And Generation Zero? 

 20 

MR MUIR:   No witnesses for us. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  All right.  Okay, so just from that discussion 

Ms Scott and on the technical matters, perhaps what we should do is we 

will leave in place the arrangements that I will come to shortly on 25 

expert conferencing being available but I think it would be useful if the 

Council having tested the matter – oh right, one more.  Ms McLeod, 

sorry. 

 

MS MCLEOD:  Sorry, sir. Transpower will call a planning witness and 30 

potentially a company witness only if required. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  Now Ms McLeod, you are aware of 

– sorry, Ms McLeod, I know that you are aware because we have said it 

in other pre-hearing meetings about the comment I made earlier about 35 

the capacity to refer back to previous evidence when a party has 

attended in different hearings so that is a matter for your client to 

consider in preparing their case. 

 

 So back to you Ms Scott, perhaps it is for the council to let us know.  I 40 

suggest you could do that by the same time as putting in your amended 

issues statement as to whether or not expert conferencing would be 

valuable, and if it is not valuable just let us know and we can let 

Mr Mills know.  Other than that we will leave it in place. 

 45 

MS SCOTT:   Sorry, we can do that.  Thank you. 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Okay.  So just working through now to the tentative 

arrangements subject to any issues parties have and should raise now if 

they do as to hearings and so forth.  So facilitated mediation, I can 

indicate Mr Mills is available for that on 11 November.  That has been 5 

arranged.  And informal mediation could well occur but it is a matter 

between the parties.  That is not something the Panel directs but 

certainly it is encouraged.  Expert conferencing, the arrangements can 

be made for that but we would need to know and we may have to set a 

date around that, I’m not sure at this stage when that would be but just 10 

perhaps let us know if it is valuable and we can see what arrangements 

we can make. 

 

 A red line version of the chapter, I think.  Would the Council want their 

red line version of the chapter in at the same time as the evidence-in-15 

chief, Ms Scott?  In which case it would be the 4th of November. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, we have - - - 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Or I could go to your issues statement actually, I was just 20 

looking at my own. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, we are happy to do that a week before because it does assist 

all parties involved in that.  It has turned into the normal practice. 

 25 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, that is fine, thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And if we do advise that conferencing seems like a good idea 

the revised proposal would come in before the conferencing. 

 30 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, thank you.  So the Council’s evidence-in-chief 

will cover off the normal schedule of where the Council has accepted 

or accepted in part or rejected any particular submission and also 

update the section 32 analysis of the Council’s preferred version – the 

one the Council is backing. 35 

 

 And the Council’s evidence would come in on Wednesday the 4th of 

November.  Submitter evidence would come in on Wednesday the 18th 

of November.   

 40 

 There will be an opportunity for rebuttal evidence and that is including 

by any submitter of any other submitter’s evidence.  Rebuttal for the 

lay people here, is in essence where you take issue with what is stated 

in another statement of evidence and you think you can produce 

evidence to challenge or rebut that, that is called rebuttal evidence.  So 45 

rebuttal evidence would be due in by Monday 23 November. 
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 A hearing is tentatively set for four days from Tuesday the 1st to Friday 

the 4th of December.  I think you were anticipating it might well be 

able to be reduced to two days depending on how narrow the issues end 

up being, Ms Scott. 5 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes.  That is correct. 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 10 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And that from just the sense of what I am hearing around 

here, subject to some parties thinking about the number of witnesses 

they are going to be calling, that might be realistic.  We will leave the 

other days in reserve in the meantime but I think two days is possibly 

realistic.  More realistic than four. 15 

 

 Cross examination is allowed by leave, so if a party wishes to question 

another party’s witness they must apply to do that.  The normal time 

available for that is 10 minutes.  If more time is required then when you 

ask for leave you have to set out your reasons why you want more than 20 

10 minutes and we will obviously have to consider that.  So cross 

examination is not a right, it is by leave of the Panel.  Applications to 

cross examine witnesses must be in by Thursday the 26th of November. 

 

 Evidence is pre-circulated in the normal way.  If you serve that 25 

evidence on the website by 3 pm on the day it is due, then that satisfies 

your obligation to serve it on other parties.  But it is the party’s 

obligation to serve that evidence on other parties, not the Secretariat’s, 

and if you miss that timeline then obviously you would have to make 

arrangements to ensure you serve that evidence correctly.  If you get it 30 

in on time, 3pm it is deemed to be served. 

 

 If you are late with the filing of a document in terms of being outside 

the time limit that will be set by the directions that will issue after this 

pre-hearing meeting then you need to seek leave to put that document 35 

in late, including evidence and you need to give reasons and a decision 

will need to be made on whether or not that will be allowed by the 

Panel.   

 

 Evidence that we received and pre-circulated is also pre-read by the 40 

Panel but witnesses giving evidence are entitled to present a summary 

of their evidence.  That just highlight of their evidence.  It is not re-

reading the executive summary.  It is just giving the Panel a highlights 

understanding of the person’s evidence.  And the time limit for that is 

expected not to exceed 10 minutes.  Obviously it is encouraged that 45 
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you can do it as quickly as you can and 10 minutes is an ample time.  

Less time the better given the pressures on the Panel. 

 

 Expert evidence need not and should not be repetitive, and I mentioned 

before if you can cross reference to evidence that has previously been 5 

given without repeating it then that is encouraged.  Parties are entitled 

to give brief openings to their case, and I say brief.  There is an 

opportunity for a greater and more fulsome closing to be given.   

 

 You are encouraged if you wish to simply rely on the written 10 

submissions you have presented rather than speaking to them but it is a 

matter for you.  If you could let the Secretariat know three days ahead 

of the hearing if you just wish to rely on the written submissions so that 

we can properly schedule hearing times.   

 15 

 Bearing in mind, and some of you have been here a number of times 

and you will be well familiar with this, when you get your hearings 

schedule from the Secretariat, it is indicative, and these things are 

dynamic, these hearings processes.  Sometimes they run a lot quicker 

than you expect and sometimes they take longer.  So when you 20 

indicated that you will be likely to be heard in the morning or so forth 

you should be here in ample time ahead of that allocated slot because it 

is only an indication and what the Panel would like to do if at all 

possible is not to go into recess because somebody is not here, it is 

simply to move on with the process and so you are strongly encouraged 25 

to be here well ahead of your estimated allocated time. 

 

 So the only other thing I have got in my notes to mention to you, I have 

already mentioned to Mr Richard Ball who is the Friend of Submitter 

and any person who is not familiar with procedures is encouraged to 30 

speak to Mr Ball before you leave today and he can assist you in terms 

of processes. 

 

 Are there any other issues any party wanted to raise, or any other 

questions anyone had?  Just wait for the microphone to come through. 35 

 

MS MCKENZIE:   Just the name again, sir, of the facilitator. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, Environment Commissioner John Mills. 

 40 

MS MCKENZIE:   Mills, thank you sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  M-I-L-L-S.  Thanks, Ms McKenzie. Mr McCallum-Clark? 
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MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:   Thank you, sir.  The minute that you had issued 

on Friday in relation to potential deferral of some of the matters to 

stage 3 in relation to pre-hearing meetings this afternoon. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes. 5 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   If you would indulge us we have a very small 

range of issues for those chapters and would support the deferral to 10 

stage 3. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   All right, and you would like to be excused from this 

afternoon. 

 15 

MR McCALLUM-CLARK:   Thank you very much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   That is fine, you can be excused, Mr McCallum-Clark, we 

will simply take record of that for purposes of that later pre-hearing 

meeting.  Thank you.  Anything else?  All right, well, thanks very 20 

much everyone. 

 

ADJOURNED [11.40 am] 


